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Package Travel

The local standards argument continues to run and run…

McCloskey J, in the Northern Irish case of Griffin v Mytravel, 16th December 2009, found as follows:

I INTRODUCTION
[1] This is an appeal against the dismiss by the learned deputy County Court Judge for the Division of Newtownards of the Plaintiff's claim for damages for personal injuries and loss of earnings.

II THE PLAINTIFF'S CASE
[2] The Plaintiff sues the Defendant as the provider of a holiday to the Plaintiff and his partner on the Island of Rhodes in September 2005. The holiday accommodation was in residential premises known as the "Yiota" Apartments. The accident which stimulated the Plaintiff's claim for damages allegedly occurred on 17th September 2005, which was the third day of their holiday, at night time, in a bedroom equipped with two separate beds. The Plaintiff's case is that in the act of going to bed, he withdrew the top sheet of the bed in question, resulting in the side of the structure collapsing on to his right foot. There was photographic evidence of the offending bed, which depicted that the main part of the structure was attached to a wooden headboard. The Plaintiff's case is that this is where the collapse occurred. His complaints are essentially twofold. Firstly, he contends that the inherent design of the bed was inadequate, rendering it vulnerable to what allegedly occurred. Specifically, he complains that the fastening of the main part of the bed to the headboard was inadequate and, further, was prone to significant wear and tear and loosening, in consequence of the bed being regularly moved and maintained. Also embraced by the Plaintiff's primary complaint is a criticism of the absence of any structural connection between the two sides of the bed. The Plaintiff's second main complaint focuses on the conduct of the chambermaid who, according to his evidence, cleaned the room and made the beds daily. The Plaintiff invited the court to infer that the actions of the chambermaid, in particular her physical manoeuvres and basic maintenance of the offending bed, de-stabilized the structure, making it vulnerable to the collapse which allegedly occurred. 

[3] The legal foundation of the Plaintiff's claim against the Defendant is twofold. Firstly, he invokes Regulation 15 of the Package Travel, Package Holidays and Package Tours Regulations 1992 ("the 1992 Regulations"), which provides:

"15 Liability of other party to the contract for proper performance of obligations under contract
(1)     The other party to the contract is liable to the consumer for the proper performance of the obligations under the contract, irrespective of whether such obligations are to be performed by that other party or by other suppliers of services but this shall not affect any remedy or right of action which that other party may have against those other suppliers of services.
(2)     The other party to the contract is liable to the consumer for any damage caused to him by the failure to perform the contract or the improper performance of the contract unless the failure or the improper performance is due neither to any fault of that other party nor to that of another supplier of services, because—
(a)     the failures which occur in the performance of the contract are attributable to the consumer;
(b)     such failures are attributable to a third party unconnected with the provision of the services contracted for, and are unforeseeable or unavoidable; or
(c)     such failures are due to—
(i)     unusual and unforeseeable circumstances beyond the control of the party by whom this exception is pleaded, the consequences of which could not have been avoided even if all due care had been exercised; or
(ii)     an event which the other party to the contract or the supplier of services, even with all due care, could not foresee or forestall.
(3)     In the case of damage arising from the non-performance or improper performance of the services involved in the package, the contract may provide for compensation to be limited in accordance with the international conventions which govern such services.
(4)     In the case of damage other than personal injury resulting from the non- performance or improper performance of the services involved in the package, the contract may include a term limiting the amount of compensation which will be paid to the consumer, provided that the limitation is not unreasonable.
(5)     Without prejudice to paragraph (3) and paragraph (4) above, liability under paragraphs (1) and (2) above cannot be excluded by any contractual term.
(6)     The terms set out in paragraphs (7) and (8) below are implied in every contract.
(7)     In the circumstances described in paragraph (2)(b) and (c) of this regulation, the other party to the contract will give prompt assistance to a consumer in difficulty.
(8)     If the consumer complains about a defect in the performance of the contract, the other party to the contract, or his local representative, if there is one, will make prompt efforts to find appropriate solutions.
(9)     The contract must clearly and explicitly oblige the consumer to communicate at the earliest opportunity, in writing or any other appropriate form, to the supplier of the services concerned and to the other party to the contract any failure which he perceives at the place where the services concerned are supplied."

[4] The Plaintiff also relies on Clause 6 of the written booking conditions apparently contained in a brochure entitled "Airtours – The Holiday Makers – Summer Sun 2005 … Northern Ireland – First Edition". It is not disputed that these booking conditions governed the contractual relationship between the parties. Clause 6 provides:

"6. Our responsibility
We arrange contracts for transport, accommodation and other arrangements through suppliers who we have taken reasonable care to make sure have good reputations and run safe and efficient businesses. We will monitor and control the performance of our suppliers and judge their performance against the standards and customs in the country where the services are provided. We will pay compensation if those suppliers fail to provide the services they agreed to supply as part of the package originally sold to you. We will accept liability for claims for personal injury as a result of our staff and suppliers being negligent while in the course of their employment or contract.
We cannot accept liability in the following circumstances:
(a) If you or any member of your party is at fault.
(b) If the failure is the fault of someone else not connected with providing the services which make up the holiday which we have confirmed to you.
(c) Any unusual or unexpected circumstances beyond our control, which we could not have avoided even if we had used all care possible.
(d) Any event which we or the supplier of any service could not help, expect or prevent."

Breach of this express contractual term is the second cause of action which the Plaintiff asserts against the Defendant.

[5] In the aforementioned brochure, there are both written and photographic depictions of the residential premises in question. They are a small, two-storey building which comprises five studios and apartments. The "official rating" is stated to be 'A'. The description is in these terms:

"Perfect for couples in search of a holiday hideaway in simple, self-catering style accommodation …
Accommodation. Studios sleep two and one bed roomed apartments sleep 2-4, have kitchenette with cooking rings and fridge, bathroom and shower and WC, plus a finished balcony or terrace.
[6] The Plaintiff testified that his accident occurred on the third night of the holiday. Until then, his bed had seemed fine. He denied having moved the bed or interfered in any way with it. He testified that every morning a maid (the same person) swept the floor, made the beds and cleaned the rooms. This included pulling the offending bed out from the corner position which it occupied, resting against two walls and then pushing it back into situ. He asserted that the bedclothes consisted of one sheet covering the mattress and two further light "sheets" above, all tightly tucked in. On the night in question, as he pulled the upper sheets back to facilitate getting into bed, "… the whole lot just fell on …" his foot. As a result, the main part of the structure (the base) was resting on the floor, in the manner depicted in the photographs taken immediately thereafter by his partner. He was able to re-assemble the structure by reconnecting the two separate components. This entailed inserting three metal teeth (apparently attached to the collapse base of the bed) into a metal plate fitted to the headboard. He satisfied himself that the fastening was secure and he was confident about the stability of the bed for the remainder of the holiday. In the Plaintiff's words, the bed "just fell apart".

[7] The evidence adduced included a letter written by the Plaintiff's partner, Mary McLaughlin. This is dated 30th September 2005. It expresses the couple's concerns about a range of matters pertaining to the holiday and, with reference to the alleged accident, contains the following material passage:

"… On the Saturday night, when going to bed, the bed collapsed on my partner's foot leaving a deep gash …
Also, because the bed fell on my partner's foot we noticed the mattress was all worn and ripped, it was disgusting …
The bed was not defective. The metal toes hadn't been fitted in properly when the maid was doing the bed that day. But this still shouldn't have happened."

[Emphasis added].

According to the letter, this generated the completion of an incident report which also formed part of the evidence. It incorporates the following passage, duly signed by the Plaintiff and dated 20th September 2005:

"On Saturday night … guest was straightening sheets on bed, went in between the two beds and the metal 'tooth' that holds the bed frame up just worked itself off the side and fell on the gent's foot …
The bed isn't broken, just unhinged itself."

According to the first part of this report, the accident occurred at 23.30 hours on 17th September 2005 and was reported at 09.15 hours on 19th September. The unchallenged evidence of the Plaintiff and his partner was that (a) there were no facilities for reporting an accident within the small accommodation building which housed their apartment and (b) they were unable to make a report on the day following the accident (18th September 2005) because this was a Sunday, when the office of the Defendant's local agent was closed.

[8] Ms McLaughlin corroborated some material aspects of the Plaintiff's account. This included the daily activities of the maid. She claimed that the maid's daily manoeuvres of the bed entailed lifting it slightly above the floor. Her evidence was that she observed the Plaintiff pulling the sheet out, whereupon the bed fell on to his foot. She removed the two upper layers (or sheets) of the bed clothing, together with the pillow and took certain photographs. She saw the metal teeth in their detached state. She also removed the sheet covering the mattress in order to photograph this, as it was in the unsatisfactory condition alleged in her aforementioned letter (this being unrelated to the Plaintiff's case). After the Plaintiff had re-secured the bed she remade it for him. 

[9] A consulting engineer, Mr. Allen, gave evidence based on the various photographs available and the accounts provided by the Plaintiff and his partner. He testified, in summary:

(a) The mechanism for connecting the sides of the bed to both their headboard and base was inadequate. It lacked permanence, it did not have dowels and it was vulnerable to progressive loosening through normal daily use and maintenance. The fastening mechanism was of an inappropriately light gauge metal, which was not fit for purpose.

(b) The bed was poorly designed, on account of a lack of fixed cross members and dowels, contributing to its instability.

It seemed to me that Mr. Allen's critique was based primarily on the first of these two criticisms. 

[10] Rather singularly, the evidence adduced on behalf of the Plaintiff included a report prepared by a practising Greek lawyer, a member of the Athens Bar Association. This report addressed, in the words of the author "… the general provisions of the Greek civil law and their interpretation on which the civil liability of the provider of touristic services against the consumer is founded". According to the author:

"It is clarified that there are no special provisions or regulations that set the obligations and security measures the hotel owner must take, concerning the maintenance of objects within the hotel, in case of physical injury … or specific security rules comprising the event that has given rise to your action. Such rules exist only for the building facilities and do not include provisions for the objects within the facilities."

The report documents the relevant general provisions of Greek law – contained in the Greek Civil Code, the Greek Penal Code, the Special Law for the Protection of Consumers and the Presidential Decree 339/1996 – together with certain judicial decisions, which are duly summarised. In argument, Mr. McCollum (on behalf of the Plaintiff) highlighted particularly Judgment 162/2004 (Dodekanese Court Appeal) which was to the effect that the Defendant hotel owner was liable for injuries inflicted by a "flying" parasol, which became detached from its housing in conditions of strong wind, on account of a failure to carry out regular and adequate inspections. This constituted negligence under the provisions of Greek law. 

[11] It is important to define the context to which the evidence of Greek law belongs. Firstly, I am satisfied that there is no true conflicts of laws issue, with the result that the provisions of Greek law will not determine the fundamental question of whether the Defendant is legally liable to compensate the Plaintiff. Secondly, Regulation 15(1) of the 1992 Regulations makes clear that where (as in this instance) the contractual obligations undertaken by the provider of a holiday are performed by some third party, the contracting holiday provider remains liable to the consumer for the due performance of such duties: see in particular Regulation 15(1) and (2). Thirdly, there are two aspects of clause 6 of the contractual conditions which may be highlighted. The first is an unequivocal acceptance by the Defendant of its responsibility to compensate the consumer where any of the Defendant's suppliers fails "… to provide the services they agreed to supply as part of the package originally sold to you". The second is an unambiguous acceptance by the Defendant of liability for "claims for personal injury as a result of our staff and suppliers being negligent while in the course of their employment or contract" [my emphasis]. 

[12] Accordingly, in the present instance, this gives rise to the following analysis:

(a) The Defendant is contractually liable to the Plaintiff for any failure by the Defendant's "suppliers" to provide services undertaken by them. This would plainly embrace the supplier of holiday accommodation, as in the present context. 

(b) There is an express contractual undertaking to compensate consumers for personal injuries sustained as a result of the negligence of both employees of and suppliers engaged by the Defendant. This constitutes, in effect, a contractual obligation to take reasonable care for the Plaintiff's safety.

(c) Having regard to the language of Clause 6, it matters not whether the negligent personnel are direct employees of the Defendant or suppliers whom it has engaged.

I am mindful of the statement in Clause 6 that the Defendant will monitor and judge the performance of its local suppliers "against the standards and customs in the country where the services are provided". In my view, properly construed, this statement does not restrict the Defendant's express contractual undertaking to compensate contracting consumers for personal injuries caused by the negligence of the Defendant's staff and suppliers. Furthermore, Clause 6 makes no attempt to import any aspect of Greek law into the contract, while simultaneously excluding or diluting the English law of negligence. Finally, in any event, the decision in Judgment 162/2004 (supra) suggests that there is no material distinction between the law of negligence in the two legal systems in the context under consideration. 

III THE DEFENDANT'S CASE
[13] Somewhat unusually, the Defendant's evidence was adduced through the medium of affidavits, relying on the provisions of the Civil Evidence (Northern Ireland) Order 1987. The first deponent was Rachel Edwards, who describes herself as a Consumer Affairs Executive in the employ of Thomas Cook Limited, a company which assumed responsibility for all of the Defendant's affairs in 2007. Ms Edwards avers that her duties embrace the realm of health and safety in resorts. On 10th June 2009, she inspected the bedroom in question and she deposes as follows:

"The bed frames are made up of a bed base connected to foot and headboards with legs. I lifted up the bed base to view the brackets which are used to slide the bed frame into the head/foot boards and legs …
The brackets looked to be of a strong metal and about 10 centimetres in length. To lift the bed base from the brackets one had to raise the bed by over 10 centimetres".

Ms Edwards also deposes to a system of inspection of the subject premises, documented in records bearing the title "My Travel Monthly Property Checklist", which are exhibited to her affidavit. [I shall address these further below]. She suggests that this system -

"… accords with the travel industry reasonable practice of monthly property checks … [which] involve the representative walking around the property and visually inspecting the fabric and furniture of the building, its safety features and noting any hazards or action required on the checklist …
I can see nothing on the documentation to indicate a problem was ever detected regarding the beds in these properties prior to or after the Plaintiff's alleged incident …
I have reviewed our incident report files which we have in resort for 2008 and 2009 and can find no record of any previous complaint or injury regarding the beds at the Yiota Studios Apartments, Rhodes …
From my experience of working in the travel industry and in particular holidays supplied in Rhodes I see nothing about the Yiota Studios and Apartments, the inspection documentation that would give a tour operator cause for concern about the suitability of the services supplied particularly with reference to the beds …
In my experience … a reasonable system of inspection by the tour operator would not include physically checking each and every bed in an overseas property made available to UK customers to ensure the joints or hinges or brackets are secure …
To expect a level of inspection involving examination of each individual item of furniture would place a significant and intolerable burden upon the tour operator and in excess of what would be expected of a reasonable system of inspection. In my experience the property, fixtures and fittings of the Yiota Studios and Apartments accords with the acceptable local customs and standards of a simple self-catering style accommodation available in Rhodes at the time."

Finally, the deponent suggests that, as regards the beds in the apartments, there has been no infringement of any local standard or any technical requirement or regulation. 

[14] The inspection records exhibited to the affidavit of Ms Edwards appear to encompass the period June to October 2005. In each of these records, paragraph 4.03.01 poses the question "Is all bedroom furniture clean, secure and in good condition"? While the manner in which the records (which are based on a box ticking system) have been completed by their author is somewhat opaque, their thrust appears to be that this particular question habitually elicited a positive answer. While there was no evidence about what the inspection of bedroom furniture actually entailed, the clear import of Ms Edwards' averments (above) is that this did not extend to examining the integral fastening mechanisms of beds. 

[15] The author of the second of the Defendant's affidavits is Mr. Kukuras, who describes himself as the manager of (inter alia) the subject premises. He avers that these were constructed in 1982 and received a "Property Operating Licence", valid for five years, on 20th January 2004 from the relevant authority (duly exhibited). He asserts that in September 2005, a cleaner visited the premises daily. Her duties were to clean floors, empty bins, clean kitchen surfaces and bathrooms. Fresh towels and bed linen were provided twice weekly. The beds were made by the deponent's father, a carpenter by trade, some seven years ago. He claims that there have been neither accidents nor complaints concerning any of the beds in the premises and that they remain in use today. Further, the beds have never needed repairs and they, together with other aspects of the premises, are "checked" at the beginning of every holiday season.

IV THE NATURE AND SCOPE OF THE DEFENDANT'S DUTIES
[16] As already recorded, the Plaintiff's cause of action is twofold: see paragraph [3], supra. I refer to, but do not repeat, my analysis of Regulation 15 of the 1992 Regulations and the relevant contractual obligation undertaken by the Defendant, in paragraphs [11] and [12] supra. Having regard to the terms and breadth of the contractual obligation, in clause 6, I rather doubt whether, in the context of the present case, Regulation 15 subjects the Defendant to any different, or greater, legal duty. In this respect, I concur with Longmore LJ in Hone –v- Going Places Leisure Travel Limited [2001] EWCA Civ 947 that, in cases of this genre, the contract between the parties will normally represent the appropriate "starting point": see paragraph [12]. 

[17] I am reinforced in this view by a consideration of the origins of the 1992 Regulations, which are of no little significance. They transpose Council Directive 90/314/EEC ("the Directive") which, in its preamble, contains the following material recitals:

"Whereas if, after the consumer has departed, there occurs a significant failure of performance of the services for which he has contracted or the organizer perceives that he will be unable to procure a significant part of the services to be provided; the organizer should have certain obligations towards the consumer; 
Whereas the organizer and/or retailer party to the contract should be liable to the consumer for the proper performance of the obligations arising from the contract; whereas, moreover, the organizer and/or retailer should be liable for the damage resulting for the consumer from failure to perform or improper performance of the contract unless the defects in the performance of the contract are attributable neither to any fault of theirs nor to that of another supplier of services;"
Article 5 of the Directive provides:

"1. Member States shall take the necessary steps to ensure that the organizer and/or retailer party to the contract is liable to the consumer for the proper performance of the obligations arising from the contract, irrespective of whether such obligations are to be performed by that organizer and/or retailer or by other suppliers of services without prejudice to the right of the organizer and/or retailer to pursue those other suppliers of services. 
2. With regard to the damage resulting for the consumer from the failure to perform or the improper performance of the contract, Member States shall take the necessary steps to ensure that the organizer and/or retailer is/are liable unless such failure to perform or improper performance is attributable neither to any fault of theirs nor to that of another supplier of services, because: 
- the failures which occur in the performance of the contract are attributable to the consumer, 
- such failures are attributable to a third party unconnected with the provision of the services contracted for, and are unforeseeable or unavoidable, 
- such failures are due to a case of force majeure such as that defined in Article 4 (6), second subparagraph (ii), or to an event which the organizer and/or retailer or the supplier of services, even with all due care, could not foresee or forestall. 
In the cases referred to in the second and third indents, the organizer and/or retailer party to the contract shall be required to give prompt assistance to a consumer in difficulty. 
In the matter of damages arising from the non-performance or improper performance of the services involved in the package, the Member States may allow compensation to be limited in accordance with the international conventions governing such services. 
In the matter of damage other than personal injury resulting from the non-performance or improper performance of the services involved in the package, the Member States may allow compensation to be limited under the contract. Such limitation shall not be unreasonable. 
3. Without prejudice to the fourth subparagraph of paragraph 2, there may be no exclusion by means of a contractual clause from the provisions of paragraphs 1 and 2. 
4. The consumer must communicate any failure in the performance of a contract which he perceives on the spot to the supplier of the services concerned and to the organizer and/or retailer in writing or any other appropriate form at the earliest opportunity. This obligation must be stated clearly and explicitly in the contract."

[18] The Directive received some consideration in Hone, where Lord Justice Longmore stated:

"[19] … It is significant that the terms of both the preamble and the body of the Directive itself refer to improper performance and must, therefore, envisage that the standard of performance is to be derived from the contract and not from the terms of the Directive itself".

I would add that in my opinion this analysis is amply supported by the language of Regulation 15(1) ("… the proper performance of the obligations under the contract … ") and Regulation 15(2) ("… the failure to perform the contract or the improper performance of the contract … ") and I concur with it. Throughout the Directive, there is a clear emphasis on obligations of a contractual nature. As further noted by Longmore LJ, in paragraph [20], the text of the relevant ministerial speech makes clear that the purpose of the 1992 Regulations was confined to implementing the Directive.

[19] In Holiday Law: The Law relating to Travel and Tourism (Grant and Mason, 4th Edition) one finds the following helpful commentary on the Directive and the 1992 Regulations (at pp. 25-26):

"Until 1993 there was virtually no statutory control of package holidays. The relationship between tour operators and clients was left almost entirely to the common law …
It is hard to over-estimate the effect that these Regulations have had on the travel industry. The provisions in the Regulations created a completely new statutory framework within which tour operators must now work. Important new civil liabilities were imposed and there are a battery of new criminal offences. Additionally a new system of consumer protection was created to protect clients against the insolvency of tour operators. However … large parts of the contract still remain a matter for the common law …
A large number of additional rules have been created which operate alongside the ordinary law of contract and impact upon it to a greater or lesser extent."

Interestingly, the authors express the view that the decision in Hone –v- Going Places represents the law (see p. 136). In summary, for the Plaintiff to succeed it is necessary to establish the terms of the contract and to discharge the onus of proving fault – unless the contractual terms, properly construed, make the Defendant strictly liable.

[20] Having regard to the above analysis and in consequence of the terms and breadth of the contractual obligation in play in the present context, a detailed excursus through the various decided cases helpfully brought to the attention of the court by the combined diligence and industry of the parties' counsel seems an unnecessary exercise. I consider that, having regard to the terms of clause 6, the following questions arise:

(i) With specific reference to (a) the design and condition of the offending bed and (b) the conduct of the chambermaid (or cleaner), what were the content and scope of the contractual duty of reasonable care undertaken by the Defendant to the Plaintiff ?

(ii) In the particular circumstances, was there any breach of such duty?

[21] In some of the decided cases, there is a discernible emphasis on the standards to be expected in the country or locality where the subject accident occurred. In one of the more recent decisions, First Choice Holidays –v- 
 Holden 
 [unreported, 22nd May 2006] the relevant contractual obligation undertaken by the holiday provider was comparable to that arising in the present case and it was common case that in order to succeed, the Plaintiff had to establish a failure by the Defendant "to carry out its obligations with reasonable skill and care". Goldring J formulated the issue in these terms [pp. 14-15]:

"Assuming the Plaintiff slipped on liquid as the Recorder found, has she proved on the balance of probability that in failing to have a system such as that adumbrated by the Recorder the hotel fell below the standards of safety of a Tunisian hotel?"
The judge answered this question in the negative and dismissed the appeal accordingly. He based his approach on Wilson –v- Best Travel [1993] 1 All ER 353, a decision at first instance predating the 1992 Regulations, in which Section 13 of the Supply of Goods and Services Act 1982 and the Defendant's express contractual undertakings provided the foundation for the Plaintiff's claim for damages for serious injuries sustained through tripping and falling through a hotel glass patio door. The legal criterion devised by Phillips J was that of "reasonable safety": see p. 356g/h. His Lordship analysed the tour operator's legal duty in the following terms [at p. 358b/d]:

"What is the duty of a tour operator in a situation such as this? Must he refrain from sending holidaymakers to any hotel whose characteristics, insofar as safety is concerned, fail to satisfy the standards which apply in this country? I do not believe that his obligations in respect of the safety of his clients can extend this far. Save where uniform international regulations apply, there are bound to be differences in the safety standards applied in respect of the many hazards of modern life between one country and another. All civilised countries attempt to cater for these hazards by imposing mandatory regulations. The duty of care of a tour operator is likely to extend to checking that local safety regulations are complied with. Provided that they are, I do not consider that the tour operator owes a duty to boycott a hotel because of the absence of some safety feature which would be found in an English hotel unless the absence of such a feature might lead a reasonable holidaymaker to decline to take a holiday at the hotel in question."

The court concluded that the absence of safety glass in the patio doors in question did not give rise to a breach of the Defendant's duty to exercise reasonable care for the safety of its clients.

[22] The decided cases belonging to this sphere include Evans –v- Kosmar Villa Holidays [2007] EWCA Civ 1003, a decision of the English Court of Appeal. The factual matrix of this decision – which concerned whether there was any duty to guard against an obvious risk viz. diving into the shallow end of a swimming pool at a Greek holiday apartment complex during hours of darkness – is remote from that of the present case. The significance of the decision lies in the court's approach to the question of how what might be termed "the local dimension" impinges on a holiday provider's duty to take reasonable care for the safety of its contracting customers. The following excerpts from the judgment of Richards LJ are of particular significance:

"22. [The first of the implied terms pleaded by the claimant may owe its formulation to Wilson v Best Travel Ltd [1993] 1 All ER 353. In that case the plaintiff, while staying in a hotel in Greece on a holiday booked through the defendant tour operator, sustained serious injuries on tripping and falling through glass patio doors at the hotel. The plaintiff's claim, which pre-dated the 1992 Regulations, was based on an implied warranty that the structure of the hotel would be reasonably safe, alternatively a duty of care arising out of the term implied by s.13 of the Supply of Goods and Services Act 1982. The judge, Phillips J (as he then was), found against a warranty but accepted the existence of a duty of care. He held that the service provided by the defendant included the inspection of properties offered in its brochure and that the defendant owed a duty to exercise reasonable care to exclude from the accommodation offered any hotel whose characteristics were such that guests could not spend a holiday there in reasonable safety (p.356d-h). The evidence was that it was the practice in England, but not yet in Greece, to fit safety glass to doors. In those circumstances the judge held that there was no breach of the defendant's duty, stating (at p.358b-d): 
'What is the duty of a tour operator in a situation such as this? Must he refrain from sending holidaymakers to any hotel whose characteristics, in so far as safety is concerned, fail to satisfy the standards which apply in this country? I do not believe that his obligations in respect of the safety of his clients can extend this far. Save where uniform international regulations apply, there are bound to be differences in the safety standards applied in respect of the many hazards of modern life between one country and another. All civilised countries attempt to cater for these hazards by imposing mandatory regulations. The duty of care of a tour operator is likely to extend to checking that local safety regulations are complied with. Provided that they are, I do not consider that the tour operator owes a duty to boycott a hotel because of the absence of some safety feature which would be found in an English hotel unless the absence of such a feature might lead a reasonable holidaymaker to decline to take a holiday at the hotel in question.'
23. A claim such as that in Wilson v Best Travel Ltd would no doubt be put differently under the 1992 Regulations: since the tour operator is directly liable under those regulations for improper performance of the contract by the hotel even if the hotel is under independent ownership and management, the focus can be on the exercise of reasonable care in the operation of the hotel itself rather than in the selection of the hotel and the offer of accommodation at it. But I do not think that this affects the principle laid down as to the standard to be applied to a hotel abroad, namely that the hotel is required to comply with local safety regulations rather than with British safety standards. That was the approach in Codd v Thomson Tour Operators Limited (Court of Appeal judgment of 7 July 2000), in which the claimant had been injured while travelling in a lift at a hotel in which he was staying in Majorca. The tour operator accepted that it would be liable (presumably under the 1992 Regulations) if negligence was established against those who were responsible for running and managing the hotel, but the judge found that liability was not established. The Court of Appeal dismissed the claimant's appeal, citing Wilson v Best Travel Ltd for the proposition that there was no requirement for the hotel to comply with British safety standards, and holding that there was no breach of local safety regulations and that there was no negligence by the hotel management either in relation to the maintenance of the lift or in relation to safety procedures. 
24. In the present case, there was no evidence to support the pleaded claim of non-compliance with local safety regulations, and that way of putting the case was not pursued at trial. In my view, however, it was still open to the claimant to pursue the claim on the other bases pleaded in the amended particulars of claim. What was said in Wilson v Best Travel Ltd did not purport to be an exhaustive statement of the duty of care, and it does not seem to me that compliance with local safety regulations is necessarily sufficient to fulfil that duty. That was evidently also the view taken in Codd, where the court found there to be compliance with local safety regulations but nevertheless went on to consider other possible breaches of the duty of care. "
Accordingly, the thrust of this decision is that, in principle, a failure by a tour operator to exercise reasonable care in the provision of services and facilities to its customers can be established even where there is no evidence of non-compliance with local safety standards and regulations. Alternatively formulated, compliance with such requirements will not necessarily be determinative of the question of the tour operator's liability to the contracting holidaymaker. 

[23] Under the doctrine of stare decisis, none of the decisions in the English cases mentioned above, including Evans, is binding on this court. By well established principle, the decision in Evans, emanating as it does from the English Court of Appeal, is considered to be of persuasive, rather than binding, authority. I consider the reasoning of Richards LJ cogent. In my view, the formulation of the tour operator's legal duty in Wilson is rather narrow and, properly analysed, was probably not intended to constitute an all encompassing exposition of the duty under consideration. Furthermore, it predates the introduction of the 1992 Regulations. While, admittedly, this issue was not considered in extenso in Codd –v- Thompson Tour Operators Limited [unreported, 7th July 2000], I consider that Swinton Thomas LJ, at the very least by implication, was endorsing this approach: see paragraphs [22] – [24]. Further support for the correctness of the analysis and reasoning of Richard LJ is provided by reflecting on the contractual dimension – which will, invariably, be fact sensitive. The argument advanced by Mr. Dowd (on behalf of the Defendant) was that the decision in Evans should be treated with caution, as it makes no reference to 
 Holden 
 (paragraph 21, supra). In my view, this does not undermine the cogency of the reasoning in Evans in any way. Furthermore, Evans is a decision of the Court of Appeal, whereas 
 Holden 
 is a decision of the High Court (on appeal from the County Court). Finally, and in any event, I do not treat the formulation of the tour operator's duty by Goldring J as either a purported comprehensive statement of the law in this sphere or as necessarily excluding liability in the fact sensitive context under consideration in the present appeal.

[24] In the present case, I find nothing in the express contractual obligation undertaken by the Defendant – rehearsed in paragraph [3] above – incorporating either expressly or by implication a qualification to the effect that the holiday provider's duty of care is to be measured exclusively by the barometer of local safety standards and regulations. I accept that the question of compliance with local safety standards and regulations may be a factor to be weighed in considering (a) the content and reach of the Defendant's duty of reasonable care and (b) whether there has been a breach thereof, in the particular circumstances. However, bearing in mind that cases of this kind invariably concern claims brought by United Kingdom nationals against United Kingdom firms against a background of harmonious EU standards, I consider that proof of compliance with local safety standards and regulations should not, ipso facto, be treated as determinative of either the ambit of the legal duty owed or the question of whether there has been any breach thereof. I shall approach the determination of the present appeal accordingly. 

[25] In the present case, I find, firstly, that (a) the providers of the accommodation in question and its fixtures and fittings, including the offending bed and (b) the chambermaid (or cleaner) were, in the language of clause 6 of the booking conditions, "suppliers". They were also "suppliers of services" within the meaning of Regulation 15 of the 1992 Regulations. The chambermaid was either a freestanding supplier of services or, alternatively, an agent of the principal supplier of services. This, correctly, was not disputed on behalf of the Defendant and, further, is tacitly admitted in the affidavit of Mr. Kukuras.

[26] In my view, both the Plaintiff and his partner were candid and honest witnesses and I accept the essential core of their evidence. Specifically, applying the standard of the balance of probabilities, I make the following findings:

(a) The Plaintiff's accident occurred as described in evidence by his partner and him.

(b) Neither the Plaintiff nor his partner had manoeuvred the offending bed at any time prior to the accident.

(c) The bed was physically manoeuvred daily by the chambermaid and, taking into account the season of the year, I infer that this had occurred on numerous occasions prior to the Plaintiff's accident.

(d) The beds had not been moved together by the Plaintiff and his partner. Nor had they re-positioned the bedside table, as suggested.

(e) The metal mechanism for securing the bed structure was in the detached condition described by the Plaintiff.

(f) The Defendant's agents conducted the monthly inspections described in their records, but these did not incorporate any examination of the fastening mechanism.

[27] I accept the critique advanced by the Plaintiff's consulting engineer. No conflicting expert evidence was adduced on behalf of the Defendant. I consider that having regard to the design of the offending bed, the fastening mechanisms should have been inspected from time to time. It was common case that they were the subject of no inspections at all. The justification proffered for this in the affidavit of Ms Edwards was that this does not commonly occur in the travel industry in the locality or country concerned and, further, it would subject tour operators to an intolerable burden. I consider that the first part of this asserted justification cannot absolve the Defendant from legal responsibility without more, having regard to my analysis of the holiday provider's legal duty, as set out above. Furthermore, the evidential foundation for this discrete claim is inadequate. Secondly, the suggestion of an intolerable burden is simply unsustainable, having regard to the evidence. The bed in question was the subject of maintenance and attention by a maid six days every week. This provided an ideal opportunity for a simple, visual and palpable check of the fastening mechanism at reasonable intervals – for example, once monthly. However, this was not one of the maid's duties. No practical or other justification for excluding this from the range of the maid's duties was put forward. The acts and omissions of the holiday provider/tour operator are to be measured by the barometer of the hypothetical reasonably prudent and conscientious agency. I accept the consulting engineer's evidence that the offending bed was vulnerable to instability, having regard to those features of its design highlighted by him. In my opinion, the hypothetical reasonably prudent and conscientious holiday provider and its suppliers and agents would have taken the simple and inexpensive precaution of checking the fastening mechanism of the offending bed from time to time. The evidence establishes that this precaution was at no time taken from the date of construction and installation of the bed at least three years prior to the accident date. In my view, this constitutes a want of reasonable care which, having regard to my findings about how the Plaintiff's accident occurred, was plainly causative. For these reasons, I conclude that the Plaintiff has established a breach of Clause 6 of the contract.

[28] The medical report of Mr. McGovern FRCS, prepared some ten months after the event, describes a crushing type injury to the Plaintiff's right foot, entailing significant bruising and tenderness during the initial phase. The court's evaluation of this injury is assisted by the contemporaneous photographs, which depict clearly marked bruising and swelling. Mr. McGovern was satisfied that there was a continuing intermittent ache at the time of his examination. This was indicative of incomplete recovery. A permanent resolution of symptoms was to be expected. In my view, the Plaintiff underplayed the extent of his injury when giving evidence. I measure general damages for pain and suffering and loss of amenity at £2,000. The loss of amenity which this award encompasses includes the obvious loss of enjoyment of the Plaintiff's holiday, while taking into account that this enjoyment was impaired by certain other factors, unrelated to the court's finding of liability against the Defendant. The Plaintiff also claimed damages for the loss of two weeks' earnings, arising out of his employment in an industrial cleaning firm. The reasonableness of this period of absence is manifest and, properly, was not challenged. The evidence, while not fully satisfactory, establishes a net loss totalling £240 and I award this sum also. 

[29] Accordingly, I allow the appeal, substituting a decree in the amount of £2,240 in favour of the Plaintiff against the Defendant. The order as to costs shall be finalised following the parties' submissions on this discrete issue. While my conclusion differs from that of the learned deputy County Court Judge, I would observe that the court at first instance did not have the benefit of the engineering evidence adduced upon the hearing of this appeal.

However, the Court of Appeal in Gouldbourn v Balkan Holidays [2010] EWCA Civ 372 appears to have come to a contradictory conclusion:

1. In a reserved judgment dated 6 August 2009 His Honour Judge Worster dismissed the claim for damages and personal injury brought by Mrs Karen Gouldbourn against Balkan Holidays Limited in respect of an injury that she sustained on 17 February 2004 when she fell on a ski slope during the course of a six day package holiday to Bulgaria. She now appeals against that decision by leave of Smith LJ.

2. Although a number of allegations were initially pleaded against the holiday company, by the time of the trial, the central allegations of negligence were that the ski instructor had failed adequately to assess Mrs Gouldbourn's skiing ability, had taken her to a slope that was too difficult for her and had failed to "maintain sufficient instruction and/or dialogue with [her] whilst on [that] run in order to ensure her safety".

3. The background facts are as follows. On Saturday 14 February 2004 Mrs Gouldbourn and her husband flew from Manchester to Sofia for a week's skiing holiday with Balkan Holidays at the Bansko Resort Bulgaria. As part of the package, they booked a six−day learn−to−ski pack at a cost of £89 each: she had never skied before and the learn−to−ski pack was specifically designed for beginners.

4. The ski school was run by Ulen AD, a local operator, and they attended for the first time on the day after they arrived, Sunday. Their instructor was a Mr Damianov, who was a Grade C instructor with six years experience. Grade C is the highest grade for instructors in Bulgaria. Unfortunately the weather was poor and not much skiing was possible. The following day, Monday, the lesson began at 10.00am on the nursery slope, which was a large area with a shallow slope. There were about 12 people in the class, a mixture of complete novices (as Mr Damianov knew Mrs Gouldbourn was) and some who had  skied before. They practised snowplough braking, turns and the use of lifts.

She did not remember falling over on the nursery slope, which the judge observed was some indication of her progress, but another member of the class, Mrs Mackay gave evidence that although some were more adept in picking up the basics, some (including Mrs Gouldbourn) were struggling.

5. On the Tuesday, the morning was again spent on the nursery slopes, practising the same moves as the previous day. Both Mrs Gouldbourn and Mrs Mackay felt that Mr Damianov was pushing them perhaps quicker than was appropriate. Suffice to say that, at lunchtime that day, he informed the group that he wanted to take them up the mountain, which he said was just like the nursery slope and very easy. Mrs Mackay said that two of the group refused to do so.

6. For the sake of completeness, I ought to add that there was an issue at the trial about whether the run on to which they were taken, the lower section of the Tordorka run, was a part of a red run and too difficult for novices: it is unnecessary to rehearse the comparatively extensive evidence on this topic because the judge concluded that the lower section of Tordorka was a regular next step for beginners progressing from the nursery slope and not inappropriate for beginners. He was not satisfied that it was too steep for her and rejected the pleaded negligence which alleged the contrary.

7. Returning to the day of the accident, Mrs Gouldbourn explained that although she was not altogether happy with the position, she travelled up the ski lifts with Mr Damianov. She got to the top of the lower section of the Tordorka. There was no instruction at the top of the run before they went down. Mr Damianov told the group to follow him and he set off. Mr Gouldbourn went first, then his wife and then Mrs Mackay. Mrs Gouldbourn completed two snowplough turns but on the third turn she lost control, was unable to stop and fell injuring her knee. Mrs Mackay saw her fall, Mr Damianov came back up the slope to help and Mrs Gouldbourn was taken down the mountain. The judge explained that there were some justifiable complaints about the lack of care she received in that process.

8. Having rejected the allegation that the skiing party was taken to a slope that was inappropriate for beginners, the main issue at the trial was whether Mr Damianov had exercised reasonable care and skill in his assessment, instruction and supervision of Mrs Gouldbourn. Mr Damianov, who no longer worked for the ski school, did not give evidence. The judge did, however, hear from Georgi Glavcev, who is a representative of Ulen AD, the ski school who were Part 20 defendants deemed to admit the claim by Balkan Holidays Limited and bound by the main judgment, although he was in fact called by Balkan Holidays. Additionally two experts gave evidence, Mr Fred Foxon for the claimant and Dr Tabar for the defendant.

9. Mr Glavcev confirmed there was a programme to which every day the instructors worked. Depending on the weather, every group was supposed to

do the same activities at the same date and time although if a group was progressing very slowly they may not be taken to the lower section of Tordorka on the third day; it was a matter for the instructor. The judge summarised the evidence from the experts on this approach in this way:

"27. Mr Foxon gave evidence that this type of proceduralised system with its set progression of activities was common in the 1950's to the 1970's but that since the 1980's the practice in western Europe had become more client centred. However Mr Foxon did not confess to be an expert in the practice of ski schools in Bulgaria, a country which is usually described as being in eastern Europe, and which is a relative newcomer to the ski holiday market. The procedural approach meant that people had to sink or swim. If they didn't keep up, they were shed from the class. His evidence was that it did not deal with the psychological aspect of skiing"

10. As to the instructor's instruction at the top of the slope the judge went on:

"Mr Foxon's view on this aspect of the case (based upon his expertise in relation to the client centred approach in western Europe) was that saying

‘follow me' was far from enough. Dr Tabar was a little more robust. He pointed out that you have to start somewhere. Teaching by demonstration was common and something he did when teaching beginners. He said that he thought he would give some greater explanation, saying turn when I turn, and go a few turns and wait. He would always have the needs of the weakest member of the group in mind. But again he had no experience or

knowledge of the standards applicable or teaching methods used in Bulgaria. He said that he did not have enough evidence to come to a judgment as to the level of instruction given to Mrs Gouldbourn. "

11. As the assessment which Mr Damianov should have made of Mrs Gouldbourn, whom Mrs Mackay described as struggling, the judge reserved that he had no evidence as to what assessment he did in fact make or what assessment he should have made on the basis of that evidence by reference to the standards of teaching practice in Bulgaria.

12. Turning to the approach of HHJ Worster to the law, it was common ground that, both expressed in clause 92 of the contract and also provided by regulation 15 of the Package Travel, Package Holidays and Package Tour

Regulations 1992 ("the Regulations"), Balkan Holidays Limited were liable for proper performance of the obligations under the contract irrespective of whomsoever provided the particular service in question. As to the test, Mr Poole successfully argued that the proper test was whether Mr Damianov exercised reasonable care and skill as a ski instructor in Bulgaria, which required an analysis of local standards rather than the standards that might be applied in this or any other country. As a result the judge concluded :

"×on western European standards Mr Damianov probably failed to assess her ability correctly and was too quick to take her up on to this slope and given that she had missed most of Sunday's skiing through bad weather and was ‘struggling' on the nursery slopes. Adopting a client centred approach he may well have pushed her too hard and failed to give her necessary encouragement and instruction at the top of the slope. There are issues as to whether any of that had a causative effect. On the balance of probabilities I would be prepared to find that had she had some more practice before going up onto the slope she would probably have been able to manage her snow plough turns and stops sufficiently well to avoid the sort of disastrous fall she had on the Tuesday afternoon. Alternatively had she been given the option at the time of considering it at the top of the slope on Tuesday afternoon, she would have probably not have skied down it, but would have joined the other 2 members of the group who decided to sit out the session.
44. That said, on the central issue of negligence, I am driven to the conclusion that Mr Damianov's conduct must be judged against the relevant local  standards, and that I have no evidence which can satisfy me that he has failed to show reasonable care by reference to such standards. It may be that he fell below those standards but that is not something which I can properly infer from the evidence I have heard."

The question for this court is whether that approach is correct.

13. Before the judge and in this court Mr Clarke argue that the proper standard to be applied in the assessment of the behaviour of the instructor was to be derived from the handbook issued by the Federation Internationale de Ski ("FIS") the international body for enabling competition rules, safety standards and other matters within the sport of skiing, to which at all material times the Bulgarian Ski Federation was affiliated. Mr Fox explained that although its Security and Conduct Handbook did not have the force of law the rules were frequently used as a basis on which judgments were made. Under the heading "The Ski Schools, Instructors and Guides", there is the following guidance :

"1. The ski school's instructors and guides must teach pupils how to ski safely, which means teaching the technical skiing and the rules of conduct for skiers

2. The ski schools are responsible for placing their pupils into different classes according to their standard of skiing.

3. The ski schools, instructors and guides must never allow their pupils to take any risk beyond their capabilities, especially taking into account the

snow or weather conditions.
4. The instructors must remind their pupils that during instruction they have no particular priority on the piste and that they should at all times respect

the rules and conduct for skiers."

As Jacob LJ observed in argument, these rules cast the duty on a very broad

basis.

14. Mr Clarke bases his argument on the decision of Phillips J as he then was in Wilson vBest Travel [1993] 1 All ER 353. The case arose out of an accident

sustained by a holidaymaker in Greece who fell through a glass balcony door

at the hotel at which he had booked to stay. The glass in the door complied

with Greek standards but was not toughened as would have been required in

the UK. Phillips J said at page 358c:

"Save where uniform international regulations apply, there are bound to be differences in safety standards applied in respect of many hazards of modern life between one country and another. All civilised countries attempt to cater for those hazards by imposing mandatory regulations. The duty of care of the tour operator is likely to extend to checking that local safety regulations are complied with. Provided that they are, I do not consider that the tour operator owes a duty to boycott a hotel because of the absence of some safety feature which would be found in an English hotel unless the absence of such a feature might lead a reasonable holidaymaker to decline to take a holiday at the hotel in question."

15. He argues that in connection with this particular activity there are indeed uniform international regulations which do govern the obligations owed by ski instructors to those who they are instructing. He points to two first instance decisions which he submits support that decision. The first is Lyon v Maidment[2003] EWHC 1227 in which, in relation to a claim following a ski accident in Andorra, it was accepted by the defendant that the FIS rules governed the conduct of skiers and that breach would result in civil liability for any injuries caused although the claim failed in any event. The second is Anderson v Lyotier [2008] EWHC 2790 (QB). That accident occurred in the French Alps. It was submitted that there was no suggestion that evidence of local standards was required but implicitly that the standard imposed by FIS rules applied.

16. I am afraid I do not find either of these cases helpful. In the first the issue was the way in which the accident happened and the concession, which was clearly not argued, took the case no further. In the second it was conceded at paragraph 8 that investigation into French law revealed no significant points of difference between it and English law in relation to the issues in the case, so the court would be asked to resolve the disputes solely according to the principles of English law. Far from implicitly accepting the FIS rules, by investigating French law the concession demonstrates local law did or at the very least could remain relevant. Mr Poole for Balkan Holidays recognised in the lower court and in his skeleton argument in this court the authority of Wilson and pointed to subsequent decisions which affirmed it. Thus in Codd v Thompson Tour Operators [2000] CA B2/2199/1321 this court dealt with an injury caused in the door of a lift in a Spanish hotel, the mechanism of which would not have complied with regulatory standards in the UK but was properly designed, maintained and serviced in accordance with prevailing Spanish standards at the time. The court referred to Wilson and observed that there was no requirement that a hotel in Majorca complied with British safety standards.

17. A similar approach was taken by Goldring J, as he then was, in deciding

Holden v First Choice & Flights Limited (22 May 2006, unreported). This concerned a fall from a flight of steps in a hotel in Tunisia. The county court Recorder found that the claimant probably slipped on liquid and then analyse the requirements of safety, drawing inferences about Tunisian standards.

Goldring J said that inferences were "no substitute for evidence for what is

local custom and what may be the local regulation". There being no evidence in that regard produced by the claimant he concluded that she had failed to prove a failing short of those standards.

18. This case has been taken to entrench the need for evidence of local standards and indeed in this case paragraph 1(d) of the Defence asserts that the relevant standard of care had to be judged by Bulgarian standards, and this contention was not challenged either in reply or the skeleton submissions filed on behalf of Mrs Gouldbourn at the trial. Neither is a breach of the FIS rules pleaded.

In any event, argues Mr Poole, the FIS rules are general principles rather than regulations adopted by all skiing nations as best practice. They establish the general duty of care, that is to say in this case the duty never to allow a pupil to take risks beyond their capabilities, but the implementation of that duty, namely how a particular country goes about ensuring it, is a question of local standards and arrangements and, given that the absence of any evidence on this topic notwithstanding the clear identification of the issue in the Defence, the claim is rightly dismissed.

19. It is a mistake to seek to construe the judgment of Phillips J as if it was a statute: see the observations of Richards LJ in Evans v Kosmar Villa Holidays PLC[2008] 1 WLR 297 at para 224 page 3068 to the effect that the case did not purport to be an exhaustive statement of the duty of care. Nevertheless it does identify a very important signpost to the correct approach to cases of this nature, which will inevitably impact on the way in which organisations from different countries provide services to UK tourists. To require such organisations to adopt a different standard of care for different tourists is quite impracticable. What might be required for American tourists may well be different to that required by a French or Western European tourist, itself different to that required by a Japanese tourist. Neither do I consider that the Regulations impose a duty on English tour operators to require a standard of care to be judged by UK criteria or necessarily western European criteria.

20. In my judgment the reference to "uniform international regulations" is intended to do no more than include into any assessment of the standard of care those standards which the relevant country has accepted and adopted. Thus, I agree that a general requirement never to allow pupils to take any risk beyond their capability imposes a duty of care to pupils in that regard, but it does not identify or mandate the way in which that duty should be fulfilled.

21. It is clear from the judgment that HHJ Worster was not prepared to impose western European standards, as opposed to what he considered to be the procedural approach, and it is noteworthy that although Dr Taber said that he would have given some greater explanation, he had no knowledge or experience of the standards applicable or the teaching methods in Bulgaria. As the judge observed in paragraph 42:

"I cannot properly assess breach of a duty of care in Bulgaria simply by reference to the section of the rather general FIS rule I referred to above. This is not a case of simple breach of local and international regulations but whether an instructor exercised reasonable care and skill. That is to be judged against the prevailing local standards"

22. The crucial finding of the judge was that the slope to which the novice group was taken not an inappropriate choice of terrain. Although Mrs Mackay put Mrs Gouldbourn in the struggling category, there is no evidence that she demonstrated to Mr Damianov that her lack of experience should have led to his decision not to take her onto that slope on that day. The FIS rules equally make it clear that "skiing like all sports entails risk".

23. Unhappy though this accident was, and with real sympathy for Mrs Gouldbourn, in my judgment HHJ Worster was entitled to the conclusion that he came to and in the circumstances I would dismiss this appeal.

Excursions
Defendant travel agents and tour operators should be very nervous about the sale of excursions as a result of two recent decisions, one of which appears to extend tortious liability and the other of which extends contractual liability in respect of excursions. 

On 27th November 2009 the Court of Appeal heard the appeal in the case of Parker v TUI UK Limited. The judgment is set out in full below. 

Lord Justice Longmore:

1. Mrs Susan Parker unfortunately suffered serious injury while she was on a holiday in Austria booked with the Defendants, to whom I shall refer as “TUI”; and whose trade name was Thomson (or sometimes Crystal). The accident occurred, after Mrs Parker had completed a toboggan run, on the evening of 29 December 2003 when she remounted her toboggan and it careered into frozen straw bales placed as a barrier between the end of a slope leading down from the finishing point of the toboggan run and a road for vehicular traffic.

2. Sometime in about early December 2003 Mrs Parker, her husband and their two sons booked a skiing holiday at Mayrhofen with their friends Mr & Mrs Owen and the Owens’ daughter. The booking was made with TUI for the week 27 December – 3 January 2004. The package included the hotel and the flight but made clear that ski equipment, ski passes and any lessons had to be booked separately. The internet brochure stated that tobogganing was available at the resort. It was not part of the pre-arranged package and for that reason the Package Travel Regulations 1992 had no application.

3. Mrs Parker suffered (and still suffers) from multiple sclerosis and, although she had been on skiing holidays with her husband before, she was a much less keen skier than he. On the first day of her holiday she did light skiing with an instructor but did not ski on the 29 December. She was having tea at about 5.00p.m. in the company of Mrs Owen who told her that she had noticed that there was a possibility, of participating in an evening toboggan event mentioned in the welcome pack which the tour operator had given to the holiday-makers on arrival at their hotel. They then saw Ms Nicci Hughes who was one of TUI’s representative at the resort and had welcomed the group on their arrival. They asked her if the tobogganing event was suitable for their party of adults and children, particularly Mrs Parker’s seven year old son Joe and whether it was available that evening. Ms Hughes replied that it was a fun event but that Thomson had no spaces left. She suggested that she would contact another tour operator called Inghams and get the family party on the event with them. She returned later and said she could arrange for the party of 7 after all; Mr Parker then paid the fee of 27€ per head by credit card. Ms Hughes said they must wear warm clothes, glasses and outdoor boots but not ski boots.

4. Those going to the event then assembled outside the hotel at 7.00p.m. and about 70 people (including people with other tour operators) embarked on a double decker bus, which arrived to take them to the tobogganing event. The event itself was organised by an Austrian company called Action Club Zillertal (“ACZ”) who took bookings from members of the public as well as from tour operators such as TUI. It seems that the bus from the hotel was provided by ACZ who handed out a docket or ticket to those on the bus entitling its passengers to obtain a toboggan and a ride on the gondola (which took the participants up to the beginning of the toboggan run) together with a drink at the café there. The bus then departed for Haizenburg where the toboggan run was to take place. It was there that the participants exchanged their dockets or tickets for a toboggan suitable for two persons. They then took a toboggan onto the gondola which took them up a mountain called Gerlossteinwand where the run started. It turned out that the run was a distance of about 7 kilometres ending up back at Haizenburg. Four TUI representatives were on the trip and they spread themselves out among the participants. The fast participants went first, the slower ones following. The representatives were spaced out; first was Nigel Metcalf, Emma Lockerbie was next, then Ms Hughes and at the back, Lindsey Howgego.

5. Mr Parker went down with Joe while Mrs Parker went with Mrs Owen, Mrs Parker being in front. Mr Parker and his son came down the run first and waited for the others to arrive at the bottom. Not unnaturally the run had fast parts and slower parts but most of the participants enjoyed themselves. Mrs Parker and Mrs Owen arrived safely at the end of the run (although they could not stop until they had passed a red light indicating the end of the run). They got off their toboggan a little beyond the proper end of the run. The accident happened at a later stage.

6. As I have said, the end of the run was marked by a red light. About 100 metres before the red light the run came round a right hand bend and then flattened out for 30 metres. There was then a slight slope. At that point there was a snow bank with, beyond it, a drop onto a ski piste. After the red light but before the snow bank there was a prominent sign stating “Ende der Rodelbahn”. After this sign only just before the snowbank, the road went round a left hand bend quite steeply downhill towards the cable car station and a chalet hotel which was on the right. There was a wide expanse of field on either side of this lower road and a yellow barrier went along side one side of the road which had a gap towards the end enabling people to pass through to the car park and indeed the cable station. At the bottom of this slope some straw bales had been placed which were in front of a further slope down to a still lower road which was kept clear of ice and snow. The accident happened because Mrs Parker and Mrs Owen had remounted their toboggan and came down the lower road from the end of the run to the cable car station too fast. Seeking to avoid the buildings they careered into the straw bales which were hard and frozen. Mrs Parker suffered severe injury to her legs.

7. The judge found (para 33) that the tour representatives had briefed the participants both on the bus and at the top of the mountain and in particular that Mr Metcalf had told all the people on the bus that there was a flashing red light at the end of the run and that they must then get off their toboggans, and walk down the rest of the way to the toboggan shed and the bus. The judge specifically found that this instruction was given several times and that Mrs Parker had heard it. Although Mr Fullerton for Mrs Parker challenged the finding of “several times” he accepted that at least one instruction was given and that Mrs Parker was aware of it. The judge further found, in the light of Mrs Parker’s statement to the police while she was in hospital on 31st December, that she blamed herself for the accident and that she knew that, once she was past the red light, she was not supposed to toboggan but to walk down to the cable car station. Mrs Parker said that she and Mrs Owen had decided to remount the toboggan partly because they found it difficult to walk on the slippery road down, partly because they were being chivvied from below to get a move on and partly because she thought Mrs Owen was in some pain as a result of a recent knee operation. She thought they would slide down to what looked like a pile of snow but once they were on the toboggan it raced away down the icy road and ran out of control. She could not explain why she did not walk down the side of the road where there was deeper snow which would provide a better grip. Mr Owen apparently did exactly that (para 42). Mrs Owen, who also gave evidence at the trial, accepted that she should have been walking but said that her knee was painful, that she had already fallen and that the danger of remounting the toboggan had not been stressed to them. In the end the judge found that the roadway was not gritted on the night in question but that it was relatively easy to find and walk down deeper snow on the side of the road and thus avoid the icy road. The judge also found (para 53) that there was no tour representative at the red light at the relevant time because Mr Metcalf, Ms Lockerbie and Ms Hughes were already at the bottom and Ms Howgego had not yet arrived.

8. The judge then proceeded to find that there was no contract with TUI in relation to the toboggan run because they only acted as intermediaries to bring Mr and Mrs Parker into a contractual relationship with ACZ. He accepted that TUI owed Mrs Parker a duty of care but said that their representatives had not acted in breach of any such duty. He made no finding of negligence on the part of ACZ. He therefore dismissed the action and refused permission to appeal. Ward LJ granted permission on a renewed oral application in the light of evidence given by TUI’s tour manager at the resort (Ms Terri Curtis) that TUI ran the event under the umbrella of Crystal/Thomson. This evidence was not referred to by the judge and arguably compelled the conclusion that a contract did exist between Mr and Mrs Parker and TUI in relation to the toboggan run. There was also arguable negligence, in the light of the fact that the road had not been gritted, and there were no representatives at the end of the toboggan run when Mrs Parker arrived there. If there had been such a representative, he or she could have helped Mrs Parker and Mrs Owen down to the cable car station or, at least, stopped them from remounting their toboggans. These were the main points which were stressed by Mr Fullerton in advancing the appeal on behalf of Mrs Parker.

Contract ?

9. It is not entirely easy to determine, on the exiguous evidence before the judge, whether Mrs Parker had a contract with TUI in relation to the toboggan run. In the light of the judge’s finding that there was, in any event, a duty of care in tort it does not greatly matter whether there was a contract or not.

10. Ms Hughes certainly took Mr Parker’s money before the family got on the bus and before any docket or ticket was issued but it must have been clear that it was not TUI who was going to provide the toboggan or the gondola ride. It must also have been clear that those services were going to be provided by a local operator even though the identity of that operator may not have been made clear until the docket or ticket was issued on the bus. It is rather doubtful from the transcript of Ms Curtis’ evidence whether she was referring to 2003 when the accident happened or to a later time when TUI undoubtedly did themselves undertake the arrangement of toboggan runs for their guests at Mayrhofen. What she said was:

“Even though Club Zillertal were the agents that did the organising for us we still ran the event under the umbrella of Crystal Thomson, yes, and we had extremely strict guidelines”.

That is very relevant to the question of assumption of responsibility for the purpose of finding a duty of care but is, to my mind, equivocal in relation to contract. There was evidence from Mrs Owen that the docket or ticket given on the bus had the name of ACZ on the top and in the light of that the judge was, in my view, entitled to conclude that ACZ gave out the tickets, was the supplier of the service and was the counterparty to the contract made in relation to the toboggan run.

11. Moreover, Ms Lockerbie who had undertaken a risk assessment of the provision of the toboggan run on 15 December 2003 had identified the supplier as “Mike at Club Zillertal”. In her evidence she said that Club Zillertal “would organise all our excursions … put the lift on for us. Put our coach on. Organise all the toboggans”.

Again this is somewhat equivocal but it seems to me, on balance, as it did to the judge that, for the purposes of the toboggan run in 2003, TUI were acting only as intermediaries, putting their clients into a contractual relationship with ACZ and not assuming any contractual duties themselves.

12. Had there been a contract, the only relevant term would be an implied term that TUI would exercise due diligence; whether they did exercise such due diligence is, of course, the key question in this case.

Existence of Duty

13. Mr Davenport Q.C. bravely argued that TUI had no duty of care and could leave their customers to the tender mercies of the elements, and the icy terrain at night without a qualm.

14. The judge did not accept that; neither did the tour representatives at the time, since they took it on themselves to accompany the run in the way I have described. Their own recognition of their responsibility as well as the evidence of Ms Curtis as the resort manager to which I have already referred is enough to persuade me that TUI assumed responsibility to their customers, and owed them a duty of care in tort. The only real question is whether they discharged that responsibility.

Scope of duty and performance

15. Although numerous improbable duties were alleged in the Particulars of Claim, Mr Fullerton’s argument in the course of the oral submissions came down to the following proposition:-

(1) The risk assessment undertaken on 15 December 2003 should have specifically assessed any risks on the lower part of the road between the end of the toboggan run and the car park. Instead it concentrated on the toboggan run itself;

(2) The probability was that there was in fact no system of ensuring that the

tour representatives were evenly spaced out among the tobogganists; the evidence that there was such a system was only invented after the claimant’s expert had served a report stating that such a system should exist;

(3) There should have been a representative positioned at the snow bank after the end of the toboggan run to remind the participants that they should not remount their toboggans and advise them to go down on the edge of the road where there was deeper unslippery snow;

(4) Alternatively to (3) that once the front tour representative had come down the road to the car park he or she should have appreciated that the road was ungritted and then arranged for either himself or another representative to stand at the corner.

16. Mr Fullerton had to face the difficulty that these allegations were not specifically pleaded nor were they put clearly to the witnesses. Mr Fullerton complained that neither Mr Metcalf who occupied the first toboggan nor Ms Hughes who came down third and should, if the system worked, have been waiting at or near the red light was called to give evidence so that he had no relevant persons to whom to put his case. Nevertheless Ms Lockerbie, Ms Howgego and the tour manager Ms Curtis were all called. The judge, moreover, did not deal with the allegations in terms.

17. But even if one disregards these difficulties, the claimant’s case must in my view fail. In the first place, it is true, that there was no specific risk assessment for the lower part of the road but it is impossible to think that, if there had been, any conclusion drawn from such assessment would be different from what in fact occurred, namely that the participants should be warned not to get on their toboggans again after they had dismounted at the end of the run.

18. Secondly, the judge was entitled to decide that the representatives did have a system for spacing themselves out among the participants. The arrangement was that one of them would wait at the end of the run. That did not work perfectly on the night because Ms Hughes had left the end of the run before Mrs Howgego (the sweeper behind Mrs Parker and Mrs Owen) arrived at the end of the run. That of itself was not causative of the accident since it would not have been feasible for a representative at the end of the run to have stopped anyone from remounting a toboggan because that remounting would have happened round the left hand bend and, if not out of sight, at any rate out of earshot.

19. So it comes down to the question whether someone should have positioned themselves at the corner as well as (or instead of) at the end of the run. The purpose of thus positioning such a person would only have been to repeat the warning, already given, not to remount the toboggan and to point out the obvious fact that it was more feasible to tread in the snow at the edge of the road rather than on the road itself.

20. I cannot bring myself to hold that it is the duty of a tour operator dealing with rational adults on a winter holiday to repeat simple warnings already given with clarity or to point out obvious dangers of ice on the road and the relative safety of snow at its side. So to hold would only encourage potential claimants to believe that whenever an injury occurs someone must be to blame. That is not what the law of negligence is about.

21. It is impossible not to have enormous sympathy for Mrs Parker and her family whose holiday turned out to be a disaster, but I agree with the judge and would dismiss her appeal.

Final point of law

22. Mr Davenport also sought to argue that the claim in tort should have been dismissed in any event because section 11 of the Private International Law (Miscellaneous Provisions) Act 1995 provides:

“The general rule is that the applicable law is the law of the country in which the event, constituting the tort in question, occurs”.

and because the claimant had neither pleaded nor relied on Austrian law.

23. This rather breathtaking submission was never made to the judge but is, in any event, hopeless. Even if the judge had been required to apply Austrian law he had no evidence that Austrian law was any different from English law. In those circumstances he would have had to assume that Austrian law was the same as English law and would have come to the identical conclusion as that to which he, in fact, came.

24. So, although neither of TUI’s additional arguments can succeed, I would still dismiss this appeal.

On 22nd February 2010 the High Court gave judgment in the case of Moore v Hotelplan Limited. 
In the Winter of 2006/2007 the Claimant was a member of a party of holidaymakers who went to Passo Tonale, a ski resort in Italy, on a package holiday booked with the Defendant. The claim arose out of an accident which occurred on 18th January 2007 during the course of a skidoo excursion which did not form part of the package holiday but which, the Claimant asserted, was provided by the Defendant. The Claimant claimed that the Defendant was responsible for the provision of the excursion as the principal to the excursion contract. The Defendant contended that it acted merely as an agent in booking the excursion, and that the Claimant’s contract was with the excursion provider, Adriano Tantera, who was a Third Party to proceedings. 

The Claimant’s case was founded on an alleged failure to instruct her properly in the method of controlling the skidoo. She accepted that she was told of the position of the brake and accelerator, but said that she was not informed of the existence of a cut off switch which had the effect of cutting the power supply to the engine. Towards the end of the excursion, some 45 minutes after the party set off, the Claimant lost control of the skidoo and collided with a stationary car in a car park. As a result of the collision she was rendered paraplegic. 

The Judgment

The trial judge found that the Defendant was a principal to the excursion contract, and that the standard terms and conditions of the holiday contract applied to that agreement, notwithstanding that it had been entered into in resort and as a freestanding contract. He found that the Claimant had not been told of the cut off switch. He went on to find that she herself had created the emergency in driving too close to the preceding skidoo and in applying the accelerator in mistake for the brake. Nevertheless, he found that had she been informed of the existence of the cut off switch, she would have used it, and this would have prevented the collision. He reduced damages by 30% to take account of her culpability in creating the emergency situation. 
The duty to warn
Bourne Leisure Ltd (T/A British Holidays) V Marsden (On Behalf Of The Estate Of M Marsden, Deceased) 

[2009] Ewca Civ 671

The owner of a holiday site had not been under an obligation to bring the precise location of a pond or the existence of a pathway, which could be used to reach the pond, to the attention of parents staying at the site when the danger the path and the pond presented to small unaccompanied children was obvious, particularly where the owner had given the parents a plan which showed the location of the pond.
The appellant (B), an operator and occupier of a holiday site, appealed against a decision that it was liable for an accident in which the two-year-old son (S) of the respondent father (F) had died. S and his younger brother had been staying with F and their mother in a caravan at B's holiday site. On their arrival there, B had provided the parents with a plan which showed sources of danger to unaccompanied children, including lakes, ponds, a river and a beach. Whilst the mother had been talking to a neighbour, S and his brother had wandered away. S had gone down a pathway and turned towards a small pond which was surrounded by rails and fencing. S had climbed over the rails and drowned. F alleged that an effective barrier should have been placed around the site, in accordance with the recommendations of the Royal Society for the Prevention of Accidents in relation to domestic ponds, or that B should have done more to warn them of the pond and access to it by the pathway used by S. The judge held that the society's policy did not apply to holiday parks but found that B's failure to draw specific attention to the pond and the access which might be gained to it down the path constituted a breach of its common duty of care and that that breach had made every difference. F submitted that because the pond was close to where they had pitched their caravan, B should particularly have warned them of the danger of the pond if S went there unaccompanied.

HELD: There was no basis to conclude that B was under any obligation, in the exercise of reasonable care, to bring to the attention of parents the existence of the pathway or the precise location of the lake, when the danger they presented to small unaccompanied children was obvious. That was all the more evident where B had given a plan to the parents which showed the location of the ponds as well as the river and the beach. In the absence of any guidance given by the society or by the Health and Safety Executive, it had not been open to the judge to conclude that B had fallen below the standards reasonably to be expected of it when it had failed to make particular mention of the location of lakes and ponds shown on the plan, still less to one of the many routes by which they could be reached. 
Short of keeping hold of the children at all times when outside the caravan, there was nothing more that the parents could have done. Small children could disappear in a moment. Holiday sites almost inevitably contained sources of danger to small and unaccompanied children. Further warnings as to that obvious circumstance could not have made any difference. There was, therefore, no foundation for the identification of a breach of duty or to conclude that the suggested breach had caused or contributed to S's fatal and unaccompanied journey to the pond.

Rome II
Article 31 provides that, “This Regulation shall apply to events giving rise to damage which occur after its entry into force.” The Regulation entered into force, according to the rule contained in article 254(1) of the EC Treaty, on the 20th day after its publication in the Official Journal; that is, on 20 August 2007. However, article 32 provides, “This Regulation shall apply from 11 January 2009, except for Article 29, which shall apply from 11 July 2008.” 

Dicey, Morris & Collins initially suggested that articles 31 and 32 should be read together, so that Rome II would apply only in respect of events giving rise to damage which occur after 20 August 2007 where legal proceedings in respect of the same are commenced after 11 January 2009.
 This solution requires reading the words, “... provided that legal proceedings in respect of such events have been introduced on or after 11 January 2009”
 into article 31 of the Regulation (which some may object to), but does at least provide some clarity. However, the position remains far from clear and there are a variety of (academic) opinions jostling for approval by a Court. Not least, in the second supplement to the textbook Dicey, Morris & Collins completely altered their view and suggested that Rome II should apply where the court decided the issue of applicable law on or after 11th January 2009.

At the time of writing it remains unclear which opinion will ultimately find favour (although, for what it is worth, the author of this paper prefers the original Dicey, Morris & Collins approach). It might be noted that a District Judge sitting in the Winchester County Court has recently (in Bonsall v Cattolica Assicurazioni, unreported, 13th January 2010) been persuaded that the Rome II Regulation will apply to claims which are heard by a Court (at a hearing to determine whether Rome II applies) after 11 January 2009 even if they were issued (by Part 7 Claim Form) before 11 January 2009. This decision might have raised a cheer among insurers (and, it would now seem, with academics), but stands at odds with notions of predictability in litigation. The German jurisdiction appears to take the view that Rome II applies to events taking place on or after 11th January 2009, which at least harmonises the Articles but seems to fly in the face of the language of them. 

Most recently the High Court has considered the operation of Articles 31 and 32, and come to diametrically opposed decisions. Slade J, in Homawoo v GMF Assurance [2010] EWHC 1941 (QB), came to the conclusion that Rome II should apply only to events occurring after 11th January 2009; but a couple of weeks later Tomlinson J, in Bacon v Nacional Suiza CIA Seguros y Reseguros SA [2010] EWHC 2017 (QB), found to the contrary. Albeit obiter, he thought that Rome II would apply to events occurring after 20th August 2007, where the court considered the matter after 11th January 2009. Slade J referred the question of the commencement of Rome II to the European Court of Justice, and it is unlikely that any answer to the question will be provided at any time in the near future. For present purposes, then, one can only guess at when Rome II came into force. 
Trouble in the Air
Consumer protection in extremis…

Sturgeon v Condor (C402/07 and C-432/07)

19th November 2009

European Court of Justice

It has long been an accepted feature of the Denied Boarding Regulations (EC 261/2004) that delays and cancellations give rise to substantially different remedies. If a flight is the subject of a long delay, the air carrier is obliged to offer various forms of care and assistance and, if applicable, to re-route and reimburse. By contrast, if a flight is cancelled, an automatic right to fixed compensation is triggered. This follows from the seemingly straightforward wording of the Regulations.

The curious effect of this dichotomy has been a large number of cases in which the sole issue for the Court to decide was whether a flight had been cancelled or delayed. The airline would vigorously seek to establish that, however long the delay, the Claimant was effectively boarding the same flight. Claimants, by contrast, would argue that once a delay reaches a certain length, and in particular if a different plane is used, it is wholly artificial to regard this as any other than a cancellation. See, for example, the early decision in Harbord v Thomas Cook (2006) LTL (CC). 

The pay off for the airline’s obligation to provide fixed compensation in the event of cancellation was the statutory defence: it was open to them to prove that the cancellation was caused by extraordinary circumstances and thereby to avoid paying any money. In light of the ECJ’s ruling in Wallentin-Hermann v Alitalia (C-549/07), 23rd December 2008 the availability of this Defence was significantly curtailed. However, surely could, at the very least, rest easy in the knowledge that they would not have to pay compensation if a flight was delayed?...WRONG!

The accepted construction of the Regulations has now been turned entirely on its head by the decision of the European Court in Sturgeon v Condor.
Mr and Mrs Sturgeon booked a return flight from Frankfurt to Toronto. Following check-in, they were informed that the flight had been cancelled (as indicated on the airport departure board). They spent the night in a hotel and the following day they were checked in at another airline’s counter for a flight with the same number. They were given differently numbered seats to those originally booked. The flight was not converted into a booking for flight scheduled by another airline. The flight finally took off 25 hours later than scheduled.

The Sturgeons claimed, not unreasonably, that the flight had been cancelled. Condor claimed that that flight had been delayed by technical problems. The German Court agreed with Condor and held that, as a result, no compensation was payable. 

On appeal, the ECJ held as follows:

1) A flight delay and a flight cancellation are two distinct things. Consequently, a flight which is delayed cannot be classified as a cancelled flight merely on the ground that the delay is extended, even substantially. Similarly, the fact that the flight was described as being ‘cancelled’ on a departure board or the fact that passengers’ luggage is returned, are not decisive. 

2) Instead, the key test is whether the flight departs in accordance with its original planning (i.e. its original itinerary, crew, number etc). If so, it is delayed. By contrast, if the flight is ‘rolled over’ onto another flight, i.e. where the planning of the original flight is abandoned and passengers join passengers on another planned flight, there has been a cancellation.

So far, so good. The Court provided (relatively) clear and (relatively) structured guidance on how to distinguish between a cancellation and a delay. The problem, however, was that this meant that Mr and Mrs Sturgeon’s flight was only delayed and therefore they would not receive any compensation. Never one to be constrained by the plain and intelligible language of the Regulations, the Court therefore went on to hold as follows:

1) In interpreting the Regulations, it is necessary to have regard to the context in which they were drafted and the objectives which they seek to achieve.

2) The primary purpose of the Regulations is to provide a high level of protection for passengers and to redress damage in an immediate and standardized manner which is caused by denied boarding, cancellation and delay.

3) The Court must also have regard to the recognised right, in European Law, of Equal Treatment.

4) Although the ‘extraordinary circumstances’ defence is provided for only in Article 5(3) (claims for compensation in the event of cancellation0, Recital 15 of the Preamble refers to the possibility of using the defence where an “air traffic management decision in relation to a particular aircraft…gives rise to…a long delay or overnight delay”. Since the notion of a long delay is mentioned in the context of extraordinary circumstances, the drafters of the legislation must also have linked it to the right to compensation. 

5) The loss of time caused by a delay is irreversible and can only be properly addressed by compensation. The loss is scarcely distinguishable from the loss of time caused by a cancellation.

6) There is, therefore, no objective ground justifying a difference in the remedy which should be available to passengers whose flights are delayed and cancelled.

7) Accordingly, passengers who flights are delayed may rely upon the right to compensation in Article 7 when they suffer a loss of time equal to or in excess of 3 hours.

8) It follows, however, that where a flight is delayed the airline must also have a defence if it can prove that the delay was caused by extraordinary circumstances.

9) The provisions of Article 7(2) will also now apply to delays, i.e. a reduction in the amount of damages awarded by 50% if the flight, albeit delayed, nonetheless arrives at the scheduled destination within a certain time.

Accordingly, the European Court of Justice has rewritten the substantive content of the Regulations. This will come as a shock to many airlines and will undoubtedly change the nature of the disputes which come before the court. The primary emphasis will now be upon establishing that loss of time was caused by extraordinary circumstances beyond the airline’s control, irrespective of whether this gave rise to a delay or a cancellation of the flight.

An early indication of the way in which District Judges are likely to interpret the combination of decisions in Wallentin-Hermann and Sturgeon was given in Solomons v Thomas Cook Tour Operations Limited, heard by the Barnet County Court on 26th May 2010. 
There was a very large degree of agreement between the parties regarding the factual background. The agreed facts were as follows:

a) The Claimants booked a package holiday in Belek, in Turkey, with the Second Defendant tour operator;

b) As part of the package the Claimants were provided with return flights to and from London Gatwick to Antalya, operated by the First Defendant air carrier;

c) The Claimants’ outbound flight from Gatwick to Antalya was delayed by 11 hours and 35 minutes. 

The Defendants asserted that the delay was due to a technical problem with the windscreen of the aircraft, as a result of which the windscreen had to be replaced. Thereafter, there was a further technical difficulty in that the left hand engine could not be started. Once this defect had been repaired the flight departed. By that time, however, the First Defendant had succeeded in chartering another aircraft from another carrier, and the Claimants had departed on that flight. 

There was also a large measure of agreement regarding the applicable legal framework:

a) The Claimants were entitled to claim for compensation from the First Defendant carrier pursuant to Article 7 of the Denied Boarding Regulations;

b) There was no claim as against the Second Defendant tour operator under the Regulations; 

c) Following the decision of the European Court of Justice in Sturgeon the Claimants had a right to compensation in the case of the delay as if the flights had been cancelled;

d) The right to compensation would be extinguished if the First Defendant could show that the delay was due to exceptional circumstances within the meaning of Article 5(3) of the Regulations. 

e) The parties agreed that the appropriate sum of compensation under the Regulations would be €400 per person, or £715.95 in total (as at 24th March 2010). By virtue of its standard terms and conditions any liability in respect of the Second Defendant would also be limited to this sum. 

The only matter which remained in dispute between the parties was whether or not the First Defendant was able to avail itself of the ‘extraordinary circumstances’ defence where the delay was due to technical difficulties. 

It was acknowledged on behalf of the First Defendant that the decision in Wallentin-Hermann suggests that where a delay is due to technical difficulties inherent in the normal exercise of airline operations the defence is not available. However, the First Defendant sought to draw a distinction between the facts in Wallentin-Hermann and the case under consideration:

a) The cancellation in Wallentin-Hermann arose out of an engine defect which had been discovered in the course of a routine check;

b) The technical problem was or may have been due to failure to maintain the aircraft (cf para.24 of the judgment);

c) The ECJ in Wallentin-Hermann found that technical problems may constitute extraordinary circumstances if they relate to an event which is not inherent in the normal exercise of the activity of the air carrier concerned and is beyond the actual control of that carrier on account of its nature or origin (cf para.23 of the judgment); 

d) It is therefore for the court to decide whether the technical problems which gave rise to this delay stemmed from events which were not inherent in the normal exercise of the airline’s activity and were beyond its control (cf para.27);

e) The delay in the Solomons’ case did not arise out of the normal operation of the aircraft;

f) It was not discovered and could not have been discovered by ordinary routine maintenance;

g) It therefore fell within the unexpected flight safety shortcomings foreshadowed by the 14th Recital to the Regulations and not the technical difficulties referred to and covered by the decision in Wallentin-Hermann; 

h) As a result, the defence would be made out if the First Defendant could show that the delay could not have been avoided even if all reasonable measures had been taken;

i) In order to show this, the First Defendant had to show that even if it had deployed all its resources in terms of staff or equipment and the financial means at its disposal, it would clearly not have been able – unless it had made intolerable sacrifices in the light of the capacities of its undertaking at the relevant time – to prevent the extraordinary circumstances with which it was confronted from leading to the cancellation of the flight (cf para.41 of the judgment);

j) The First Defendant had, it was submitted, shown that it took all reasonable steps to repair the technical defects as quickly as possible, and that it chartered an alternative aircraft as soon as possible. 

These arguments did not impress the Deputy District Judge. He found that the Defendant had failed to show that either of the defects could not have been discovered on a routine maintenance check, nor that they were not in fact discovered. In order to do so, the maintenance logs for the aircraft would have to be disclosed and full information provided as regards the regularity of inspection, inspection methods, repairs undertaken and parts replaced. A bare assertion on the part of a member of the Defendant’s staff was not enough to satisfy the burden of proof. Furthermore, the aircraft might have been repaired more quickly if it had been flown to another airport, where better facilities were available. The First Defendant had failed to prove that this could not have been done. Nor had the First Defendant shown that it could not have chartered an alternative aircraft at an earlier stage. As soon as it was known that a significant repair would have to be undertaken, the First Defendant ought to have made attempts to charter. Because it did not do so, it had failed to make out its defence. 
Fuller v Clickair

DJ Silverman – Central London County Court

29th March 2010

Another ‘litter’ case under the Montreal Convention. It now seems to be settled law that slipping or tripping on litter does not constitute an accident within the meaning of the Convention. 

On 3rd June 2007 the Claimant was on board an aircraft that had arrived at London Heathrow from Valencia. She alleged that as she went to leave her seat she stood up to move sideways. However in doing so her foot came into contact with a paper headrest that had fallen off a seat, causing her to fall and suffer injury. 

The Defendant did not admit that the Claimant had slipped on the headrest, and asserted that she might well simply have slipped, and leapt to the conclusion that her fall was due to unrelated litter. The Claimant was supported in her evidence by her husband, her daughter and her son. 

The Defendant also contended that the incident did not constitute an accident within the meaning of Article 17(1) of the Montreal Convention. Guidance has recently been given as to this issue by the Court of Appeal in the case of Barclay v British Airways [2009] Lloyds Law Reports Vol 1 297, in which Laws LJ concluded:

“Article 17.1 contemplates, by the term “accident”, a distinct event, not being any part of the usual, normal and expected operation of the aircraft, which happens independently of anything done or omitted by the passenger. This gives the term a reasonable scope which sits easily in the balance the Convention strikes. It is, I conceive, in line with all the leading authorities from Saks onwards which, save only, with respect, for Lady Hale’s opinion in DVT, uniformly emphasise the importance of the causative event’s being “external” to the passenger. There are some particular formulations in the cases which (without picking over the texts to the last comma, a fruitless and inappropriate exercise) especially point, as it seems to me, towards this approach. I have already cited paragraph 21 of Lord Phillips’ judgment in DVT, where he referred to “an untoward event which impacts on the body...”. This suggests to my mind the happening of an event which is anterior to and separate from any involvement of the passenger. So also Lord Steyn’s observation in DVT at paragraph 33 that “it is an integral part of the test of what amounts to an accident that it must have a cause external to the passenger”. Assistance is also to be had from O’Connor J’s observation at p. 406 of Saks itself:

“… [W]hen the injury indisputably results from the passenger’s own internal reaction to the usual, normal, and expected operation of the aircraft, it has not been caused by an accident, and Article 17 of the Warsaw Convention cannot apply”.

In Barclay the Court was faced with a Claimant who had slipped by reason of a permanent plastic strip located on the floor of the aircraft. Therefore the fall was caused not through any event other than the Claimant coming into contact with that plastic strip. It was not alleged that the plastic strip had become defective or had deteriorated in any way. As such the Court of Appeal held that there was no event that was external to the Claimant that was capable of being an accident. 

In Fuller, however, the fall was caused as a result of a head rest cover having become detached from its proper location and falling to the floor in a location that could cause a person to slip, which might be thought to be an event entirely external to the Claimant. The only real issue was whether it was ‘unusual or unexpected’ (cf the decision of the US Supreme Court in Air France v Saks (1985) 1 S & B Av R VII/165). The Claimant contended that it was; she had no reason to believe that the headrest would be on the floor of the aircraft and it was certainly unexpected as far as she was concerned. The Defendant argued that it was not; the presence of general litter on the floor of an aircraft is not unusual at the end of a flight. 

The District Judge, in a reserved judgment, found against the Claimant on both issues. He did not accept that she had shown that she had probably slipped on the headrest rather than spontaneously; and he found that, even had she slipped on litter, its presence on the floor of the aircraft was neither unusual nor unexpected, and the incident therefore did not constitute an accident within the meaning of the Convention. 
The crash speaks for itself…

George (administratrix of the estate of Hughes Williams, deceased) v Eagle Air Services ltd (2009)

 [2009] UKPC 21 (Privy Council)

The deceased (X) was a mechanic working for Eagle Air Services (D). He was killed when one of Ds aircraft crashed. The Claimant (C), the deceased’s wife, claimed he was travelling on the aircraft in the course of his employment and that his death was caused by pilot negligence. D alleged that the aircraft had been serviced by X and was airworthy for the flight, that X had been on the aircraft outside the scope of his employment, and that it had never authorised the pilot to mishandle the aircraft. 
At trial, C gave evidence alleging that the pilot had been negligent "because I had a dead body back". D's manager gave evidence that the aircraft was airworthy, denying that he had authorised X to fly, but admitting that X did not like flying. Following the evidence, D submitted that there was no evidence of negligence. C submitted that since the aircraft was airworthy when it took off, the doctrine of res ipsa loquitur applied to the claim.

Held: The maxim of res ipsa loquitur was potentially of great importance owing to the difficulty of discharging proof in aviation cases. Although the perils of air flight had in the past led to reluctance to apply the maxim to air crashes, in more recent cases it had been held applicable, considering the improvements in design and technology: the argument that crashes ordinarily occurred in the absence of default by someone connected to the design, manufacture or operation of the aircraft had to be rejected. 
Aircraft did not usually crash, and certainly should not do so. If they did, it was not unreasonable to suppose that their owners would inform themselves of any unusual causes and not unreasonable to place on them the burden of producing an explanation. 
D had never suggested any explanation of the accident or any reason preventing it giving an explanation. It had as a result failed to displace the inference of negligence which in the circumstances resulted from the crash itself. On that basis C's claim should have succeeded.
D’s contention that W was a joyrider was misconceived. He must have been on the aircraft with the pilot's consent; he did not like flying, so it was unlikely that he asked to fly - just as it was unlikely that the pilot asked him to fly - without some cause, probably related to the machine's operation. Even supposing he was a joyrider, D still owed him a duty of care, in the same way as to anyone else on board.
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